IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * *

JAPONICA GLOVER-ARMONT,

APPELLANT,

VS.

JOHN CARGILE; CITY OF NORTH
LAS VEGAS, A MUNICIPAL
CORPORATION EXISTING UNDER
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
NEVADA IN THE COUNTY OF
CLARK;

RESPONDENTS.

Electronically Filed
Jun 08 2017 08:42 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
CASE NO. 70988

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable William Kephart, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-13-683211-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ADAM GANZ, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 6650
MARJORIE HAUF, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8111
DAVID T. GLUTH, II, ESQ.
Nevada BarNo. 10596
GANZ & HAUF
8950 W. Tropicana Ave., Ste. 1

|------------------------------------|--------|

1 **I. NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE:**

2 The undersigned counsel of record certifies that Appellant is an individual
3 and there are no parent corporations of publicly held companies applicable in this
4 case. These representations are made so that the judges of this Court may evaluate
5 possible disqualification or recusal. In District Court, Japonica Glover-Armont
6 was represented the law firm of Ganz & Hauf. On Appeal, Adam Ganz, Esq.,
7 Marjorie Hauf, Esq., and David T. Gluth, Esq., of the law firm of Ganz & Hauf,
8 represent Appellant.

9 **II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT:**

10 This is an appeal from (1) an Order granting a Motion to Reconsider
11 Defendants/Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment, (2) an Order granting
12 Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, and (3) a post-trial award of costs
13 pursuant to NRS 18.110. Appealability is established by NRAP 3A(b)(1) and (8).
14 The appeal is timely because notice of entry of the Order in this case was served
15 on July 6, 2016, and the Notice of Appeal was filed on August 3, 2016.

16 **III. APPELLANT'S STATEMENT REGARDING ROUTING:**

17 Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5), Appellant states that this matter is not
18 presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17. This matter
19 is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it involves the appeal
20 from an Order granting a pre-trial motion in a tort case resulting in a judgment of
21

1 \$250,000 or less pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2). Appellant also appealed the
2 judgment.

3 **IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES:**

4 1. Did the District Court abuse its discretion when it granted Defendants'
5 motion for reconsideration, and allowed Defendants to reargue the same motion to
6 the District Court that was previously denied, because there was no new evidence
7 or change in the law and the District Court's original decision was not clearly
8 erroneous?

9 2. Did the District Court err when it granted summary judgment in favor of
10 Defendants based on discretionary immunity under NRS 41.032(2) when the
11 District Court previously found that there were disputed issues of material fact
12 that were never resolved by a jury, discovery or any new evidence, as to the issue
13 of whether a City police officer was acting with due care when responding to an
14 emergency call?

15 3. Did the District Court err when it granted summary judgment in favor of
16 Defendants based on discretionary immunity under NRS 41.032(2) when the
17 undisputed evidence in the record demonstrated that a police officer of the City of
18 North Las Vegas violated its own safety rules and policies in causing a crash?

1 4. Did the District Court err when it concluded that discretionary immunity
2 bars all claims against a police officer so long as they did not commit intentional
3 torts or acted in “bad faith”?

4 5. Did the District Court err when it considered inadmissible evidence,
5 specifically, the citation and crash report, when deciding Defendants’ motion for
6 reconsideration and motion for summary judgment?

7 6. Whether the award of costs to Defendants was appropriate?

8 **V. STANDARD OF REVIEW:**

9 **A. The Motion for Reconsideration (Abuse of Discretion)**

10 The standard of review of the trial court’s decision on a motion for
11 reconsideration is an abuse of discretion. *AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington*,
12 126 Nev. 578, 589, 245 P.3d 1190, 1197 (2010) (noting that a motion for
13 reconsideration is reviewed for an abuse of discretion where appealed with the
14 underlying judgment). “A district court may reconsider a previously decided issue
15 if substantially different evidence is subsequently introduced or the decision is
16 clearly erroneous.” *Masonry & Tile Contractors Ass’n of S. Nevada v. Jolley, Urga*
17 *& Wirth, Ltd.*, 113 Nev. 737, 741, 941 P.2d 486, 489 (1997).

18 **B. The Motion for Summary Judgment (*De Novo*)**

19 This Court reviews a district court’s granting of summary judgment *de novo*.
20 *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). This
21

1 Court does not have to give any deference to the lower court's findings. *Id.* This
2 Court has also explained that "[t]he application of sovereign immunity under NRS
3 Chapter 41 presents mixed questions of law and fact." Therefore, this Court
4 reviews "conclusions of law, such as those entailing statutory construction, *de*
5 *novo*," but "will not disturb a lower court's findings of fact if supported by
6 substantial evidence." *City of Boulder City v. Boulder Excavating, Inc.*, 124 Nev.
7 749, 755, 191 P.3d 1175, 1179 (2008). Additionally, if the District Court's
8 findings of fact "rest on an erroneous view of the law, they may be set aside on that
9 basis." *Stancle v. Clay*, 692 F.3d 948, 953 (9th Cir. 2012) *citing Pullman-Standard*
10 *v. Swint*, 456 U.S. 273, 287, 102 S.Ct. 1781, 72 L.Ed.2d 66 (1982).

11 **VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY:**

12 This is a case for damages caused by a police officer's failure to follow the
13 City of North Las Vegas' own policies, causing a car crash with one of its citizens.
14 In the early morning of November 5, 2012, Plaintiff/Appellant, Japonica Glover-
15 Armont ("Glover"), was seriously injured when she was driving and T-boned by
16 Defendant/Respondent, City of North Las Vegas police officer, John Cargile
17 ("Cargile").¹ (A. App. Vol. 1, 0001-0009). Glover was driving eastbound on
18 Cheyenne approaching the intersection of 5th Street in North Las Vegas, Nevada.

20
21 ¹ For brevity, Defendant/Respondents, John Cargile and City of North Las Vegas,
are collectively referred to herein as "Defendants."

1 To her right, a large hill blocks her view of northbound traffic. Cargile, while
2 driving a vehicle owned by his employer, Defendant, City of North Las Vegas
3 (“City”), attempted to cross the blind intersection on a red light without his siren
4 while responding to an emergency call. Cargile crashed into the front side of
5 Glover’s vehicle. As a result of the crash, Glover sustained \$23,711.69 in medical
6 damages.

7 On June 10, 2013, Glover filed a Complaint against Cargile and the City
8 (collectively “Defendants”) alleging negligence, vicarious liability, negligent
9 entrustment and negligent hiring, training and supervision. (A. App. Vol. 1, 0002-
10 0009)

11 On December 22, 2015, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment
12 based on the theory of discretionary immunity pursuant to NRS 41.032(2). (A.
13 App. Vol. 2, 0427-0475). Glover opposed the motion on January 11, 2016. (A.
14 App. Vol. 3, 0476-0664).

15 The District Court heard argument on February 2, 2016. (A. App. Vol. 4,
16 0672-0702). The District Court requested supplemental briefing and the motion
17 was continued to March 1, 2016. Supplemental briefing was filed on February 23,
18 2016. (A. App. Vol. 4, 0703-0860).

19 On March 1, 2016, the hearing on Defendants’ Motion for Summary
20 Judgment, after further briefing was received, took place. The District Court
21

1 appropriately denied Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment making factual
2 findings that there were issues of fact that must be presented to the jury. (A. App.
3 Vol. 4, 0861-0884)

4 On April 7, 2016, Defendants filed a Motion for Reconsideration. (A. App.
5 Vol. 4, 0085-0890). The motion did not present any new facts or issues of law.
6 Instead of allowing the factual issues still in dispute to be decided by a jury, the
7 District Court granted Defendants' motion for reconsideration and motion for
8 summary judgment. (A. App. Vol. 5, 0927-0929). Notice of Entry of Judgment
9 was filed on July 5, 2016. (A. App. Vol. 5, 0956-0959). Plaintiff promptly
10 initiated her appeal of this order and judgment on August 3, 2016. (A. App. Vol.
11 5,0973-1005).

12 On July 6, 2016, Defendants filed a Memorandum of Costs and
13 Disbursements. (A. App. Vol. 5, 0930-0955). On July 11, 2016, Glover filed a
14 Motion to Retax Costs. (A. App. Vol. 5, 0961-0968). The District Court granted
15 the motion in part and ordered a total of \$4,055.50 in costs to Defendants. (A.
16 App. Vol. 5, 1006-1007). On October 27, 2017, the parties stipulated to stay
17 execution of the judgment for costs pending the outcome of this appeal. (A. App.
18 Vol. 5, 1008-1009).

19 **VII. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

20 **A. Factual Background**

21

1 This case involves a motor vehicle crash that occurred on November 5, 2012
2 between Glover, a civilian, and Cargile, a North Las Vegas Police Officer, while
3 he was on duty. (A. App. Vol. 1, 0002-0009). Glover was driving on Cheyenne
4 heading eastbound and approaching the intersection of 5th Street in North Las
5 Vegas, Nevada. *Id.* Cargile, while driving a vehicle owned by his employer,
6 Defendant, City of North Las Vegas, was driving northbound on 5th Street. *Id.*

7 Due to a huge hill built up at the southwest corner of the intersection,
8 visibility from oncoming eastbound traffic was blocked. Defendants admit that it
9 was “impossible” for Cargile to determine whether any vehicle were approaching.
10 (A. App. Vol. 2, 0429:15-18). Yet, Cargile chose to cross the intersection on a red
11 light without his siren causing a significant impact with Glover’s vehicle. As a
12 result of the crash, Plaintiff suffered injuries to the cervical spine and incurred
13 more than \$23,000 in medical expenses. (A. App. Vol. 2, 0425)

14 **B. Disputed Issues of Material Fact**

15 Discovery in this case revealed several issues of disputed material facts that
16 should have been decided by a jury, not the District Court. Some of the issues the
17 District Court originally found to be issues of material fact include the following:
18 (1) Cargile did not have his sirens on at the time of the crash; (2) Cargile hit
19 Glover’s vehicle in the intersection; and (3) Cargile failed to use due care when
20
21

1 running the red light at the blind Cheyenne intersection violating City of North
2 Las Vegas Policy.

3 **1) Cargile did not have his sirens on at the time of the crash**

4 Everyone agrees that it is a disputed issue of fact as to whether Cargile both
5 his lights and sirens on at the time of this crash. In sworn interrogatories, Glover
6 stated that Cargile did not have his sirens on and she did not see the lights due to a
7 large hill that obstructed the view. (A. App. Vol. 1, 0023). Glover again at
8 deposition testified that Cargile did not have his sirens on at the time of the crash.
9 (A. App. Vol. 1, 0054:24-25:9).

10 On October 1, 2014, Cargile's deposition was taken. (A. App. Vol. 1,
11 0067). During his deposition, Cargile disputed Glover's sworn testimony and
12 stated that he had both his lights and sirens on as he approached the intersection.
13 (A. App. Vol. 1, 0102:13-15). At the same time, Cargile agreed that a driver in
14 an emergency vehicle must never enter an intersection on a red light until it is
15 clear and safe, even if he has his lights and sirens on. (A. App. Vol. 1, 090:13-
16 25). Mr. Cargile testified he must use due care:

17 Q. Why do you believe that these are important -- just
18 very basic safety rules?

19 A. **I refer to it as driving with due care. That's just it.**
20 **It's trying to minimize or limit the risk to all the**
21 **drivers on the roadway** by yet being able to expedite
our response time to those that are in need.

1 *Id.* (emphasis added). Cargile knew the view at the intersection was blocked by a
2 huge hill and decided to run a red light without his sirens. Therefore, if Cargile did
3 not have his sirens, or his lights were blocked by the 25-foot hill when he ran the
4 light, by his own admission, he did not enter the intersection when it was safe to do
5 so. A reasonable juror could have concluded that Cargile knowing this was not
6 acting with due care and negligent. These material issues of fact as to whether
7 Cargile entered the intersection in a safe manner was never decided by a jury.

8 **2) Cargile hit Glover's vehicle in the intersection**

9 The parties also produced ample evidence that demonstrates material issues
10 of fact as to the position of the vehicles at impact. Glover testified she was
11 traveling 40 to 45 miles per hour, as she approached intersection on a green light,
12 when she saw Cargile about 50 feet from the intersection. (A. App. Vol. 1, 0044).
13 Glover slammed on her brakes and both cars were moving when Cargile hit her
14 vehicle on the left side. (A. App. Vol. 1, 0051). Cargile says he was stopped for 5
15 to 6 seconds before he attempted to clear the intersection on the red light only
16 going "a couple miles per hour." (A. App. Vol. 1, 0114:15-20). Cargile claims he
17 was stopped at the time of impact. *Id.* at 7-14.

18 Glover designated Sam Terry, an expert in accident reconstruction. (A. App.
19 Vol.1, 0233) Mr. Terry performed a reconstruction analysis of this crash. Mr.
20 Terry opines that Cargile was not stopped at the time of impact as he testified. (A.
21

1 App. Vol.1, 0220, p.18) Instead, Cargile was traveling between 6 and 8 miles per
2 hour at the time of the crash. *Id.* Mr. Terry noted that all the damage to Glover's
3 vehicle after the crash existed on the fender, door, and wheel with no visible
4 damage located on the leading edge of her front bumper. *Id.* at 0213, p. 11. Mr.
5 Terry further opined that the physical evidence shows Cargile hit Glover's vehicle
6 in the intersection, not vice versa, meaning Glover had control of the intersection
7 when Cargile hit her. *Id.* Mr. Terry opines that Glover most likely never heard
8 Cargile's siren (whether it was on or not). *Id.* Finally, Mr. Terry concluded that
9 Cargile, who chose to run the red light, was in the best position to avoid this crash.
10 *Id.*

11 Cargile designated a rebuttal expert, David Ingebretsen, to discuss the nature
12 of the impact. (A. App. Vol. 2, 0247) Predictably, Mr. Ingebretsen disagreed
13 with Glover's expert Mr. Terry and claimed that it did not matter if "one car hit
14 another car. (A. App. Vol. 2, 0258). Mr. Ingebretsen also deemed it was
15 "irrelevant" if Glover did not hear a siren. *Id.* at 0257.

16 Whether Glover had control of the intersection when Cargile hit her is a
17 material issue of fact that were never decided by a jury. This is important because
18 a reasonable jury could have concluded that nature of the impact shows Cargile
19 was responsible for causing this crash by violating safety rules and failing to
20 exercise due care. Consistent with the expert opinion in the case, the jury could
21

1 have easily found that Glover had control of the intersection when Cargile was
2 going too fast and without warning struck the side of Glover's vehicle. Therefore,
3 Cargile chose to enter the intersection unsafely, even though he knew the
4 intersection was blind endangering the public.

5 **3) Cargile failed to use due care when running the red light at the**
6 **blind Cheyenne intersection violating City of North Las Vegas**
7 **Policy**

8 There is also ample evidence that demonstrates Cargile failed to use due care
9 when he entered the intersection on a red light. Cargile endangered the public
10 when he knew the intersection was obstructed when chose to run the red light. He
11 was also aware of safer routes to get to where he was going.

12 Everyone also agrees that it was City policy that when responding to
13 emergency calls Cargile was required to use both his lights and sirens.

14 On October 1, 2015, Glover deposed the City's investigating officer, Jim
15 Byrne's. Officer Byrne testified that if Defendant Cargile chose not have his
16 sirens on when entering the intersection on a red light, he would be violating of
17 North Las Vegas' policy. (A. App. Vol. 1, 00184:9-16) .

18 Officer Byrne further testified that an emergency driver must never enter
19 an intersection on a red until the intersection is safe to enter. (A. App. Vol. 1,
20 0090:13-18). Officer Byrne agreed that this is important because the majority of
21 collisions occur between an emergency vehicle and another vehicle when the

1 emergency vehicle enters on a red light. (A. App. Vol. 1, 0155: 22-16-0156:3-7).

2 In other words, this type of harm caused by Cargile from violating the City's
3 safety rules was foreseeable. *Id.* As detailed above, it was also undisputed that
4 Cargile knew a huge hill about twenty-five feet high on the corner of the
5 intersection that blocked the view of oncoming traffic on Cheyenne:

6 Q. When you are at that stop bar with that hill on your left, are
7 you able to see -- and I'm talking about stopped right before the
8 stop bar. Are you able to see the eastbound traffic on
Cheyenne?

9 A. Yes, for only a certain distance. There's two limiting factors
10 I see on that one. **One is the obstruction, the large hill that's
on that southwest corner, and two is the limited lighting at
night to be able -- how far up the hill you can see.**

11 (A. App. Vol. 1, 0107:20-25- 0108:1-10) (emphasis added).

12 Knowing that the intersection was obstructed and lighting was limited,
13 Cargile still chose that route on Cheyenne, even though he was also aware of safer
14 choices and "several different ways to get there." (A. App. Vol. 1, 098:9-19).
15 Cargile also admits that regardless if he had lights, or lights and sirens, that he
16 must not enter an intersection until it is safe to do so. (A. App. Vol. 1, 090:13-18).

17 The material issue of whether Cargile chose to violate City policy and enter
18 the intersection unsafely was taken out of the hands of the jury. There is no
19 question that based on the evidence in this case reasonable jury could have found
20 that Cargile violated the City's policies when he chose to enter that blind
21

1 intersection on a red light in the manner that he did, and therefore, liable to for the
2 damages he caused.

3 **C. Summary Judgment Hearings**

4 **1) February 2, 2016: District Court Finds There are Issues of** 5 **Material Facts still in Dispute**

6 Discovery closed on November 20, 2015. (A. App. Vol. 2, 0402-0405). On
7 December 22, 2015, despite the clear issues of disputed material facts, Defendants
8 filed a motion for summary judgment based on discretionary immunity. (A. App.
9 Vol.2, 0427). Defendants claimed that because Cargile was responding to an
10 emergency call it does not matter if Cargile chose to enter the intersection unsafely
11 or if Cargile chose to violate City policy. (A. App. Vol. 2, 0436-0467).

12 The District Court heard oral argument on February 2, 2016. At that hearing,
13 Defendants conceded there was several issues of fact. First, Defendants conceded
14 that it was an issue of fact as to whether Cargile had his lights and siren on at the
15 time of this crash:

16 THE COURT: Okay. This is Defendants' Motion for Summary
17 Judgment. I've had an opportunity to review the moving papers.
18 I think the issue that I'm looking at, basically, both of you are in
19 opposite positions, is with respect to **whether or not -- what**
20 **evidence can be supported that the red lights and sirens**
21 **were on in the vehicle, so.**

MR. CRAFT: Well, **there is a dispute, a factual dispute on**
that point.

1 (A. App. Vol. 4, 0673: 14-21). (emphasis added). While Defendants later
2 attempted to argue that it did not matter if the lights and sirens, the District Court
3 properly recognized that this was a disputed issue of material fact. (A. App. Vol.
4 4, 0675:18-23. (emphasis added).

5 In fact, Defendants acknowledged several times during oral argument that
6 the issue as to whether or not Cargile was violating City policy was a factual
7 dispute:

8 COURT: I know, but the judgment in this particular case,
9 depend on **what is believed factually, is a judgment -- you're**
10 **going to -- for purposes of protecting the public and safety**
11 **of the public and responding to crime, and then in response,**
12 **he does something that puts the public in peril when he's**
13 **going through a red light without notifying individuals that**
14 **he's -- that he's doing that, going for a call. So that's why --**

15 ...

16 MR. CRAFT: -- least, undisputed, yeah, and he says
17 he has his sirens on. **I know that's a factual dispute.**

18 (A. App. Vol. 4, 0679:6-18).

19 Defendants concede that there was an issue of fact as to whether or not
20 Cargile's vehicle struck Glover vehicle or whether Glover's vehicle struck
21 Cargile's vehicle:

THE COURT: Did it appear that the -- that the squad car struck
the other car or the other car struck the squad car?

MR. CRAFT: **We're going to go ahead and say that's a**
factual dispute.

MR. CRAFT: **We have competing experts.**

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