1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 * * * * * 3 Electronically Filed 4 JAPONICA GLOVER-ARMONT, Aug 09 2017 01:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown 5 Appellant, Clerk of Supreme Court 6 CASE NO. 70988 7 VS. 8 JOHN CARGILE; AND CITY OF NORTH) 9 LAS VEGAS, A MUNICIPAL **District Court Case** CORPORATION EXISTING UNDER No. A-13-683211-C 10 THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF 11 NEVADA IN THE COUNTY OF CLARK.) 12 Respondents, 13 14 RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF 15 16 17 NORTH LAS VEGAS CITY ATTORNEY 18 Micaela Rustia Moore, City Attorney Nevada Bar No. 9676 19 Christopher D. Craft, Senior Deputy City Attorney 20 Nevada Bar No. 7314 21 2250 Las Vegas Blvd. North, Suite 810 North Las Vegas, NV 89030 22 (702)

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

V. **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant's opening brief is entirely focused on factual disputes relating to her negligence claim, questioning whether Cargile had his sirens on, whether he chose the best route, etc. However, none of these issues are relevant to the Court's finding of discretionary immunity on the part of Respondents. As set forth above and discussed below, Cargile and the City are entitled to discretionary immunity pursuant to NRS 41.032. It is undisputed that Cargile was making conscious

decisions as to how to respond to the emergency call, including decisions regarding his route and whether and how to proceed through the red light. It is also undisputed that his actions were related to public policy, including policies of enforcing the law, protecting the public, and apprehending criminals. With those two elements of discretionary immunity met, under Martinez v. Maruszczak, 123 Nev. 433, 168 P.3d 720 (2007), Cargile and the City are immune from liability for Appellant's claims.

With respect to the Motion to Reconsider, the Court had initially incorrectly applied NRS 41.032, finding issues of fact related to negligence. Because discretionary immunity would shield Respondents from Appellant's negligence claim, the Court properly reconsidered its ruling and ultimately found in favor of Respondents. Appellant's position that the Court has no ability to correct itself when it rules in error is absurd.

VI. ARGUMENT

- A. THE ELEMENTS OF DISCRETIONARY IMMUNITY FOR RESPONDENTS WERE SATISFIED WITH UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE.
 - 1. Nevada case law regarding discretionary immunity favors Respondents.

Respondents are entitled to discretionary immunity pursuant to 41.032(2). In Martinez v. Maruszczak, 123 Nev. 433, 168 P.3d 720, 726 (2007), the Nevada

27

28

Supreme Court held that NRS 41.032(2) "provides complete immunity from claims based on a state employee's exercise or performance of a discretionary function or duty. . . ." NRS 41.032(2) states that "no action may be brought under NRS 41.031" which is "[b]ased upon the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function or duty on the part of the State or any of its agencies or political subdivisions or of any officer, employee or immune contractor of any of these, whether or not the discretion involved is abused." In interpreting this statute, the Court in Martinez adopted the two-part Berkovitz-Gaubert test used under the Federal Tort Claims Act ("FTCA"). Id. at 728-29 (citing Berkovitz v. United States, 486 U.S. 531, 536-37 (1988) and United States v. Gaubert, U.S. 315, 322 (1991)). To qualify for discretionary immunity, "a decision must (1) involve an element of individual judgment or choice and (2) be based on considerations of social, economic, or political policy." Martinez v. Maruszczak, 123 Nev. 433, 439, 446–47. The Court elaborated that "The focus on the second criterion's inquiry is not on the employee's subjective intent in exercising the discretion conferred by statute or regulation, but on the nature of the actions taken and on whether they are susceptible to policy analysis. Thus, the court need not determine that a government employee made a conscious decision regarding policy considerations in order to satisfy the test's second criterion." Id. "A discretionary act requires personal deliberation, decision, and judgment."

Herrera v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept., 298 F.Supp.2d 1043, 1054 (D.Nev. 2004). "[D]ecisions at all levels of government, including frequent or routine decisions, may be protected by discretionary-act immunity[.]" Martinez, 123 Nev. at 447.

The Nevada Supreme Court has broadly applied the discretionary immunity test set forth in Martinez in cases involving government officers deciding how to perform their duties. In Ransdell v. Clark County, 124 Nev. 847, 192 P.3d 756, 759-63 (2008), the plaintiff challenged code enforcement efforts by Clark County, which had determined that plaintiff's residence, which had essentially become a junkyard, was in violation of several provisions of the Clark County Code. The Nevada Supreme Court, using the Martinez test, held that Clark County was entitled to discretionary immunity from state law claims involving the application for and execution of a "seizure warrant" because the county's officers were required "to use their own judgment and conduct individual assessment of the conditions on [a homeowner's] property to determine if abatement was required under the Clark County Code" and "strong public policy considerations related to public health safety, and welfare are associated with abatement procedures generally." Id. at 859. Plaintiff's claims against the County were dismissed. Id. at 861.

26

27

28

23

24

25

Indeed, even before Martinez changed the landscape of discretionary immunity by expanding its protection to frequent, routine decisions, the Nevada Supreme Court has found in favor of law enforcement, applying discretionary immunity in various cases which involved police exercising personal judgment in how to do their jobs. In Maturi v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dept., 110 Nev. 307, 308, 871 P.2d 932, 933 (1994), police officers were protected by discretionary immunity from claims arising from their decision to handcuff a prisoner behind his back as opposed to the front. As the Court explained, "Although it can be argued that the officers in this case made the wrong choice as to whether rear handcuffing was 'impractical,' it is clear that they were making a choice, that they were exercising discretion," and therefore they were protected by discretionary immunity. Id. at 310. See also Parker v. Mineral County, 102 Nev. 593, 729 P.2d 491 (1986) (stating that the decision of how to respond to a report is discretionary and should not be "second guessed" by a court with the benefit of hindsight); Ortega v. Reyna, 114 Nev. 55, 62, 953 P.2d 18, 23 (1998) (a state trooper's decisions to stop an appellant, and later to take the appellant to jail, were discretionary because those decisions required the officer to use his personal judgment).

Simply put, in Nevada, discretionary immunity will apply whenever (1) a government officer makes a decision or uses judgment, and (2) his action is related

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

to any government policy. While discretionary immunity was once deemed to only apply at the operational level (i.e. legislative decisions on policy), Martinez broadened its application to ground level decisions. As long as the officer involved is making a choice or judgment, and the actions involved are related to a public policy, the officer undertaking those actions will be immune from negligence claims.

2. Case law directly on point from other jurisdictions favors a finding of discretionary immunity – and is never addressed by Appellant.

Just as this Court did in Ransdell, supra, it is appropriate that the Court similar for guidance. 855. look to factually cases 124 Nev. Numerous courts around the country have applied discretionary immunity to instances of a police officer or other government personnel responding to an Though the immunity goes by different names (such as official emergency. immunity, sovereign immunity, etc.), the common thread to all such instances is that when an officer is responding to an emergency, and the officer is required to make decisions or use independent judgment, immunity is granted for any accidents which occur during the officer's response to the emergency. Simply put, we do not want our emergency responders hesitating to act based on a fear that they may be held liable should anything go wrong. Astonishingly, Appellant declined to address the following cases at the District Court level in any way.

1

4

5

7

9

10

11 12

13

14

15 16

17 18

19

20

2122

23

24

2526

2728

Now, on appeal, she continues to ignore case law which is directly on point, making no mention of prevailing case law when courts deal with this crucial factual scenario.

In <u>Vassallo ex rel. Brown v. Majeski</u>, 842 N.W.2d 456 (Minn. 2014), a police officer proceeded through a red light while responding to an emergency call, and collided with plaintiff's vehicle. The trial court found, and the Minnesota Supreme Court ultimately affirmed, that the officer was engaged in a discretionary function and therefore was entitled to official immunity. <u>Id.</u> at 463. At issue in the case was whether the officer's compliance with Minn.Stat. § 169.03, Minnesota's statute that requires an emergency vehicle to "slow down as necessary for safety" was discretionary or ministerial. As the court explained,

The requirement that the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle shall slow down as necessary for safety, plainly does not impose an absolute duty upon the driver of an emergency vehicle to slow down in every situation upon approaching a red or 'Stop' signal or stop sign. Rather, the requirement is conditioned on the driver's, in this case Deputy Majeski's, determination of the level of speed appropriate for safety under the circumstances. This is a textbook example of the exercise of discretion: the policy set out in the statute requires individual professional judgment that necessarily reflects the professional goal and factors of a situation, and is therefore discretionary. Likewise, the duty to "proceed cautiously," as used in this statute, "means to go forward in the exercise of due care to avoid a collision." A requirement to use due care also calls for the exercise of independent judgment and is not absolute, certain, and imperative, involving merely the execution of a specific duty arising from fixed and designated facts.

<u>Id.</u> Because the officer exercised his judgment in what was appropriate "due care" while proceeding through the red light, his actions were discretionary, and both he and the city were immune from plaintiff's negligence claims. <u>Id.</u> at 465-466. While Appellant's counsel decries Respondents' argument that the officer responding to an emergency has discretion as to what constitutes "due care" in this scenario, twice referring to such a concept as "unbelievable," they apparently were unaware of the legal basis for the position, or are simply pretending that such case law does not exist. (A. Op. Brief at 15:9; 21:9.)

In <u>Colby v. Boyden</u>, 400 S.E.2d 184 (Va. 1991), a Virginia Beach police officer was in pursuit of a driver who had run a red light. Attempting to flee the officer, the driver ran another red light, and the officer followed, running the red light as well, which resulted in a collision with plaintiff. The Virginia Supreme Court held that a police officer who was involved in an accident when he went through a red light while pursuing another vehicle was entitled to sovereign immunity:

[A] police officer, engaged in the delicate, dangerous, and potentially deadly job of vehicular pursuit, must make prompt, original, and crucial decisions in a highly stressful situation. Unlike the driver in routine traffic, the officer must make difficult judgments about the best means of effectuating the governmental purpose by embracing special risks in an emergency situation. Such situations involve necessarily discretionary, split-second decisions balancing grave personal risks, public safety concerns, and the need to achieve the governmental objective. The exercise

of discretion is involved even in the initial decision to undertake the pursuit[.]

3 Id. at 187. The Virginia Supreme Court expressed similar concerns as are present 4 here, stating that denying immunity to the police officer "not only ignores the 5 realities of the circumstances under which he performed his job, but also would 7 inhibit law enforcement officers faced with similar decisions regarding vehicular 8 pursuit in the future." Id. Because the response of the officer, in attempting to 10 apprehend a dangerous driver, required decisions on the part of the officer, he was 11 immune from liability. <u>Id.</u>

1

2

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

In Terrell v. Larson, 2008 WL 2168348 (Minn. 2008) (unpublished decision), a deputy responding to a domestic disturbance call ran a red light at between 30 and 45 miles per hour, and collided with another vehicle, resulting in the death of its driver. Under the doctrine of official immunity, "a public official charged by law with duties which call for the exercise of his judgment or discretion is not personally liable to an individual for damages unless he is guilty of a willful or malicious wrong." The doctrine parallels discretionary immunity in that it hinges on the individual officer's "exercise of judgment or discretion." The Terrell opinion discussed the deputy's duty of care when proceeding through a red light, stating as follows:

Terrell relies on a statute that provides, in part:

Stops. The driver of any authorized emergency vehicle, when responding to an emergency call, upon approaching a red or stop signal or any stop sign shall slow down as necessary for safety, but may proceed cautiously past such red or stop sign or signal after sounding siren and displaying red lights.

Minn.Stat. § 169.03, subd. 2 (2000). Terrell argues that the words "shall slow down as necessary for safety" imposed a ministerial duty on Deputy Larson, leaving him no discretion to not slow down. Terrell emphasizes the statute's use of the word "shall," but the phrase "as necessary for safety" is a significant qualifier. That phrase indicates that the degree to which an officer must slow down depends on conditions that the officer perceives at that time. This is a classic example of the use of discretion.

<u>Id.</u> at *5-6. Because the deputy had discretion as to how to proceed through the red light, including making the decision as to what he needed to do in order to comply with Minnesota's "red light" statute, he was immune from liability (A. App. Vol. 2, 468-475).

Using this same reasoning, in <u>Muse v. Schleiden</u>, 349 F. Supp. 2d 990, 996-98 (E. D. Va. 2004), the court held that a deputy's decision to enter an intersection against a red light without activating his lights and sirens was a discretionary function and therefore the deputy was immune from suit on a claim that the deputy negligently collided with another vehicle when responding to an assault in progress call. The court found that the deputy was required "to balance grave personal risks, public safety concerns, and the need to achieve the governmental objective." <u>Id.</u> at 997. The court reasoned that "[s]overeign immunity protection is necessary

in such circumstances to preserve the emergency responder's discretion to balance a variety of special risks in making the decision on how best to respond to an emergency call" because "activating emergency equipment might alert a criminal to a deputy's arrival or create a disturbance by drawing attention to the scene of the call." <u>Id.</u> at 997-98. The court concluded that "a key purpose for extending sovereign immunity to a county's emergency responders [is] to eliminate public inconvenience and danger that might result from such responders being reluctant to act for fear of damaging lawsuits." Id. at 998.

In Rivas v. City of Houston, 17 S.W.3d 23 (Tex.App. 2000), an ambulance driver transporting a patient ran a red light and collided with the plaintiff. The Court of Appeals of Texas found that the driver was immune from plaintiff's claims because he was engaged in a discretionary function. The court explained that Texas law defines a discretionary act as one which requires "personal deliberation, decision, and judgment," and that a paramedic or emergency medical technician's "decisions concerning how to transport a person to a medical facility will fundamentally involve his discretion." Id. at 29. Because the ambulance driver's duties at the time of the accident involved transporting a patient to the hospital on an emergency basis, the court held that the ambulance driver was performing a discretionary function as a matter of law at the time the accident occurred, and was therefore both he and the city were immune from liability.

In <u>Pletan v. Gaines</u>, 494 N.W.2d 38 (Minn.1992), a police officer's decision to engage in a high speed chase to pursue a fleeing criminal resulted in a fatal accident. Deciding whether the officer's actions were immune from suit, the Minnesota Supreme Court stated that when an official must make instantaneous decisions often on the basis of incomplete information, "[i]t is difficult to think of a situation where the exercise of significant, independent judgment and discretion would be more required." 494 N.W.2d at 41. As the court explained,

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